IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-830

LEONARDO FRANQUI,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER
Florida Bar No. 0754773
Law Office of Todd G. Scher, P.L.
5600 Collins Avenue, #15-B
Miami Beach, Florida 33140
Telephone: (305) 861-9252

Fax: (305) 861-9253

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Franqui, along with co-defendants Pablo San Martin and Pablo Abreu, was charged by Indictment issued in January, 1992, with one count of first-degree murder and related offenses arising from the death of Raul Lopez in a shooting occurring in Miami, Florida, on December 6, 1991. Along with co-defendant Pablo San Martin, Mr. Franqui proceeded to trial in September, 1993, and the jury returned guilty verdicts for one count of first-degree murder, two counts of attempted first-degree murder, attempted robbery, two counts of grand theft, and unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. At a joint penalty phase, the jury returned a death recommendation for the murder of Raul Lopez by a vote of 9-3.

On November 4, 1993, the trial court imposed the death penalty on Count I, consecutive terms of life imprisonment as to Counts II and III, a consecutive 15 years term of imprisonment on Count IV, a consecutive 5 year term of imprisonment on Counts V and VI, and a 15 year consecutive term of imprisonment on Count VII.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Franqui's convictions and sentences, with the exception of the convictions for attempted first-degree murder. *Franqui v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1312 (Fla. 1997), *cert. denied*, 118 S. Ct. 1337 (1998), and 118 S.Ct. 1582 (1998).

On January 15, 1999, Mr. Franqui, through registry-appointed counsel, filed a verified motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 (PCR37-129).² A verified amended motion was filed on April 18, 2000 (PCR136-179), and alleged various claims for relief: (1) the cumulative impact of trial counsel's failure to object to prosecution comments and closing argument at both the guilt and penalty phases (PCR138-151); (2) failure to call experts at the penalty phase and violations of *Ake v. Oklahoma* at both the guilt and penalty phases (PCR151-152); (3) the failure to move for a change of venue

¹Both Mr. Franqui and the State sought certiorari review of this Court's disposition on direct appeal.

²The proceedings below were handled first by a succession of Miami-Dade County judges who ultimately recused themselves because the trial prosecutor, Marilyn Milian, was personal friends with various of the judges. *See* PCT115 (recusal of Judge Robert Scola); PCT126-27 (reassignment of case to Judge Michael Chavies, who transfers case to Judge Alex Ferrer). A motion to recuse Judge Ferrer was initially denied (PCT139-148). However, a subsequent motion was filed after Mr. Franqui filed his amended Rule 3.850 motion, and, after a hearing on the motion, Judge Ferrer recused himself and the case was ultimately re-assigned by the Chief Justice of this Court to Broward County Circuit Judge Paul Backman to avoid further recusals from Miami-Dade judges (PCR176-77; 212). Judge Backman handled the litigation from this point on.

(PCR152-156); (4) the deprivation of an adequate adversarial testing at the penalty phase due to various failings by defense counsel (PCR156-160); (5) the failure to call Mr. Franqui's wife at the motion to suppress and at trial on the issue of his putative confession (PCR160-164); (6) a violation of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), regarding State witness Pablo Abreu (PCR164-169); (7) his right to interview jurors (PCR167-169); (8) non-compliance by state agencies with public records demands (PCR169-173); (9) the failure to object to the diminution of the jurors' sense of responsibility under *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985) (PCR173-174); (10) the jury received unconstitutional instructions on aggravating circumstances (PCR174-175); and (11) failure to grant severance at both the guilt and penalty phases (PCR175-176). As an exhibit to the amended motion, Mr. Franqui filed an affidavit from Fernando Fernandez (PCR357-359). Mr. Franqui also adopted as part of his motion an affidavit of co-defendant Pablo Abreu, filed in connection with co-defendant Pablo San Martin's Rule 3.850 proceeding, in which Abreu purported to recant part of his penalty phase testimony in Mr. Franqui's case (PCR-357). On July 6, 2000, the State filed its response to the amended motion (PCR180-348).

A hearing pursuant to *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993), was conducted on January 8, 2001 (PCT244-274). At the *Huff* hearing, Mr. Franqui's

Abreu and prosecutorial misconduct related to Abreu; the State acknowledged that because it had conceded the need for an evidentiary hearing on San Martin's claim, it had "no objection to Mr. Franqui joining that evidentiary hearing" (PCT256).

See also PCT268 ("basically we've agreed to have an evidentiary hearing on that claim [of Abreu's recantation of his penalty phase testimony] for both Mr. San Martin and Mr. Franqui").

On January 7, 2002, the trial court issued its order following the *Huff* hearing (PCR478-487). The court summarily denied all of the claims, save the claim relating to Abreu and Mr. Franqui on which the State had conceded the necessity for an evidentiary hearing.

On October 18, 2002, Mr. Franqui filed a supplement to his amended Rule 3.850 motion, alleging a claim based on *Ring v. Arizona*, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002), and one based on *Atkins v. Virginia*, 122 S. Ct. 2242 (2002) (Attachment A to Motion to Supplement the Record) (PCT316-17). On October 30, 2002, the State filed a response to these claims (Attachment B to Motion to Supplement the Record).

On March 31, 2005, the lower court entered an order denying relief to Mr. Franqui (PCR754-759); by separate order, the court denied the *Ring* claim raised in

a supplemental pleading (PCR752-753).3

On April 29, 2005, a Notice of Appeal was filed (PCR764),⁴ and this Initial Brief follows.

³Because the lower court had not entered a written order disposing of Mr. Franqui's *Atkins* claim, the undersigned moved this Court for a relinquishment so that such a written order could be entered or, in the alternative, for a relinquishment to . On February 21, 2008, the lower court entered its order denying the *Atkins* claim. By separate motion, Mr. Franqui is asking that the record be supplemented with this order (and other documents not included in the record on appeal.

⁴Following the denial by the lower court, prior registry counsel moved to withdraw from their representation of Mr. Franqui and the undersigned was appointed to handle the instant appeal (PCR761-62; 769).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

- The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Franqui's claim 1. pursuant to Atkins v. Virginia. The lower court's premise for denying the claim was that Mr. Franqui's mental retardation had been litigated at his penalty phase, and the trial court and this Court rejected mental retardation as a non-statutory mitigating circumstance. However, in numerous other cases, this Court has held that a capital defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on an Atkins claim irrespective of whether mental retardation had been raised in the context of mitigation at the penalty phase. Because Mr. Franqui's pleadings below more than sufficiently set out a facially sufficient Atkins claim, the lower court should be reversed. In the alternative, the Court should remand this matter to the circuit court so that Mr. Franqui can be afforded the opportunity to file a motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 and plead and prove the elements for a claim of mental retardation as a bar to execution under the Eighth Amendment.
- 2. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Franqui's claim that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel at the guilt and penalty phases of his capital trial due to counsel's failure to object to repeated improper, inflammatory, and unduly prejudicial argument and comments by the prosecutor.

 Contrary to the ruling by the lower court, this claim is not procedurally barred; this

claim could not have been raised on direct appeal due to the lack of objections by counsel and therefore Mr. Franqui's ineffectiveness allegations are cognizable in this Rule 3.850 proceeding.

- 3. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Franqui's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel due to trial counsel's failure to present the testimony of Dr. Brad Fisher at the penalty phase. The lower court's ruling that counsel made a "reasonable choice" not to call Dr. Fisher cannot be squared with this record, given that the court did not afford an evidentiary hearing. A strategy reason cannot be presumed absent an evidentiary hearing.
- 4. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Franqui's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel due to trial counsel's failure to call Vivian Gonzalez to testify at the motion to suppress or at trial/penalty phase. Ms. Gonzalez would have had important information to present with regard to suppression issues and trial counsel, without a tactical or strategic reason, failed to do so. Moreover, the lower court's reasoning for its denial that Ms. Gonzalez did in fact testify at the suppression hearing, is not supported by the record.
- 5. The lower court erred in denying, after an evidentiary hearing, Mr. Franqui's claim of entitlement to a new penalty phase proceeding in light of the recantation by co-defendant Abreu of his penalty phase testimony in which Abreu

testified that Mr. Franqui had a pre-arranged plan to murder the victim in a premeditated fashion. Abreu's testimony establishes that the State presented false testimony to the jury, testimony which established the serious CCP aggravating factor. Reversal for a new penalty phase is warranted.

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MR. FRANQUI'S CLAIM OF MENTAL RETARDATION PURSUANT TO ATKINS V. VIRGINIA, AND THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE AND REMAND FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, REVERSE TO PERMIT MR. FRANQUI TO FILE AN APPROPRIATE MOTION PURSUANT TO FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.203.

A. Standard of Review.

In considering whether a Rule 3.850 movant is entitled to present evidence in support of his constitutional claims, his factual allegations "must" be accepted as true. *Lightbourne v. Dugger*, 549 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989). "Under rule 3.850, a postconviction defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and record conclusively show that the defendant is entitled to no relief." *Gaskin v. State*, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999). *Accord Patton v. State*, 784 So. 2d 380, 386 (Fla. 2000); *Arbelaez v. State*, 775 So. 2d 909, 914-15 (Fla. 2000).

B. Proceedings Below.

While Mr. Franqui's Rule 3.850 motion was pending in the lower court, the Supreme Court issued its decision in *Atkins v. Viginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), in which the Court held that the execution of a mentally retarded person violated the Eighth Amendment. On October 18, 2002, Mr. Franqui first filed a supplemental

claim alleging, *inter alia*, that he was mentally retarded within the meaning of *Atkins*. In part, the supplemental claim alleged:

1. Mr. Franqui suffers from substantial limitation in present functioning. In particular, [Mr. Franqui] has functional impairment to the extent and to a degree that establishes he suffers from substantial limitations of present functioning and/or has significant subaverage general intellectual functioning. Mr. Franqui has been diagnoses by Dr. Jethro Toomer who forward [sic] Franqui's history of learning disabilities, academic failure, and retardation. Dr. Toomer has concluded that Mr. Franqui has demonstrated borderline intellectual abilities and neuropsychological deficits, particularly in memory and executive functioning.

* * *

Psychologist Jethro Toomer found that Mr. Franqui had an IQ of less than 60. He was retarded (TR3135). Unquestionably, Mr. Franqui did poorly in school and dropped out in the 8th grade (Tr. 3112-3114, 3117, 3123). According to Toomer, Mr. Franqui had difficulty communicating, he suffered a number of deficits, and his insight and judgment were impaired (Tr. 3115-3116, 3131). Dr. Toomer diagnosed Franqui as suffering from borderline personality disorder (Tr.3209).

2. In *Atkins v. Virginia*, ___ U.S. ___, 122 S. Ct. 2242 (2002), the United States Supreme Court considered whether mentally retarded individuals are constitutionally subject to execution. The Court ruled as follows:

"We are not persuaded that the execution of mentally retarded criminals will measurably advance the deterrent or the retributive purpose of the death penalty. Construing and applying the Eighth Amendment in light of our `evolving standards of decency,' we therefore conclude that such punishment is excessive and that the Constitution `places a substantive restriction on the State's power to take the life' of a mentally retarded

offender." *Id.* at 2252 (citing *Ford v. Wainwright*, 477 U.S. 399, 405 (1986)).

* * *

4. As a result of new developments in the law, and in light of Defendant's substantial limitations of present functioning and/or significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning, Mr. Franqui raises this second supplemental claim to his motion to vacate and set aside the judgments of convictions and sentences, including his sentence of death, imposed upon him by this Court, on grounds that his right to protection against cruel and/or unusual punishment under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 17 of the Florida Constitution, were violated. Mr. Franqui's death sentences should be vacated.

(Attachment A to Motion to Supplement the Record). The State filed a response to the supplemental claim, contending that it was facially insufficient, "has already been raised and rejected," and otherwise without merit (Attachment B to Motion to Supplement the Record).

Mr. Franqui re-iterated his claim of mental retardation in another supplemental pleading filed in March, 2003, following the limited evidentiary hearing on unrelated issues. In this supplemental claim, Mr. Franqui alleged his entitlement to relief and, at a minimum, to an evidentiary hearing:

Petitioner, Leonardo Franqui, restates his claim pursuant to his original supplemental claim pursuant to *Atkins v. Virginia*, 122 S. Ct. 2242 (2002) in that an evidentiary hearing must be required to determine the degree of retardation of Mr. Franqui. The trial transcript clearly established that Mr. Franqui's IQ was less than 60, which would place him into the retarded category (see Trial transcript

Tr. 3112-3138). The diagnosis at trial was that Mr. Franqui suffered from a severe personality disorder impairing judgment and insight to the degree that the retardation impaired insight and judgment (Tr. 3115).

However, the applicability of *Atkins* and the constitutionality of Fla. Stat. §921.137 are before the Florida Supreme Court at the present time. Consequently, since that statute dealt with the execution as applied to defendants with mental retardation, this Court should hold judgment until decisions are reached in the matters of Burns v. State, SC01-166, Miller v. State, SC01-837, and Floyd et. al. v. Butterworth, SC02-2295 (which the Florida Supreme Court has accepted jurisdiction) are reconciled by that Court. The consequence of Abreu's testimony, as the State argued at the February 4, 2002 hearing, is that the trial court rejected the mitigating finding of retardation elicited at the second phase proceeding. However, the Atkins mandate does not rely on a preemption of that issue by the trial court. There are primarily two reasons for the failure of any preemption, resjudication [sic] or collateral estoppel argument: First, there may be subsequent or additional testimony to supplement the mental health diagnosis, which may or may not have been originally pursued (either by ineffectiveness or non-availability of those tests); and Second, a degenerative condition may impact on a separate diagnosis not available before due to a psychiatric/physiological degenerative change and/or subsequent advancements in medical testing not available in 1992. For example, blood testing at the time cannot be seriously compared to advanced DNA testing now available. Also, mental axial testing and graphic computer methods were in relative infancy at the time of these offenses. Thus, the imperative of an Atkins hearing not only is recognition that recent methods of medically testing mental states may reveal completely separate results (For example, the various M.R.I. testing and other tests presently being administered to both Mr. Franqui and Mr. San Martin).

In Mr. Franqui's case, the state expert, Dr. Mutter (at Tr. 3220-3295) agreed that Mr. Franqui had impaired insight and intelligence and mild brain damage. However, there was no opinion

as to the degenerative aspect by experts of Mr. Franqui's mental impairment or retardation (which is herein alleged to have occurred over the last decade of incarceration). Therefore, not only would a hearing pursuant to *Atkins* be required as to Mr. Franqui's condition at the time of the offense, but also as to the degenerative effects to the present time of mental defects, since the *Atkins* standard applies to the immediate time.

Since this Court has thus not ruled upon Mr. Franqui's claim pursuant to *Atkins v. Virginia*, it is respectfully requested that this Court incorporate in this Claim the Supplemental Claim (and memorandum) filed by Mr. Franqui, which was filed on October 18, 2002.

(PRC723-24).

In response, the State again contended, as it did when Mr. Franqui first raised the claim, that the claim was facially insufficient, procedurally barred, and meritless (PCR740-743). At a hearing where the parties were allowed to argue their positions on the *Atkins* claim, the State elaborated its position that the issue of Mr. Franqui's mental retardation was presented at the penalty phase, and the trial court and this Court rejected these claims so therefore "the claims should be barred under collateral estoppel" (PCT586-88). Mr. Franqui argued that *Atkins* was not in existence at the time of his penalty phase and, under *Atkins*, the issue of mental retardation is different than it is when considered as mitigating evidence; therefore, the fact that mental retardation was not found in mitigation does not obviate the need for a hearing pursuant to *Atkins* (PCT585-86). Mr. Franqui further stressed

that there was testimony from the penalty phase that his IQ was less than 60, and that the State's expert "did no testing of him period" to determine if he was mentally retarded (PCT586).

Although it denied Mr. Franqui's Rule 3.850 motion, the lower court did not enter a written order disposing of the *Atkins* claim until present collateral counsel, after reviewing the record and determining that there was no such order, requested this Court to relinquish jurisdiction for the purposes of the entry of a written order. On February 21, 2008, the lower court entered an order denying the *Atkins* claim, ruling, in pertinent part:

In his second supplemental claim, the Defendant contends that, in light of his substantial limitations of present functioning and/or significant subaverage general intellectual functioning, his death sentence is cruel and unusual punishment under *Atkins*. This Court disagrees.

In *Atkins*, the United States Supreme Court held that execution of a mentally retarded criminal is excessive and violates the Eighth Amendment prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment. *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S. Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 (2002). However, the Florida Supreme Court found *Atkins* to be inapplicable when the defendant was "already afforded a hearing on the issue of mental retardation and was permitted to introduce expert testimony on the issue. The evidence did not support his claim." *Bottoson v. Moore*, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), *cert. denied*, 537 U.S. 1070, 123

⁵Mr. Franqui also requested that the Court abate the instant appeal to permit him to file a motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203, but the Court only relinquished jurisdiction to permit the lower court to enter a written order on the *Atkins* issue.

In the instant case, the Defendant presented substantial evidence during trial on his mental capacity. Based on the evidence presented, the trial judge did not find the Defendant to be mentally retarded. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's rejection of the Defendant's low level of intelligence as a mitigator. The Florida Supreme Court discussed this issue and the trial judge' sentencing order:

The trial court's sentencing order rejected low intelligence as a mitigator in the following fashion:

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