IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-830

LEONARDO FRANQUI,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

and rule this Court has adopted, that IQ score must have been obtained on an approved IQ test. Pursuant to Fla. Admin. Code. 65G-4.011:⁵

The test shall consist of an individually administered evaluation, which is valid and reliable for the purpose of determining intelligence. The tests specified below shall be used.

(a) The Stanford-Binet Intelligence Scale.

(b) Wechsler Intelligence Scale.

(2) Notwithstanding this rule, the court, pursuant to Section 921.137, F.S., is authorized to consider the findings of the court appointed experts or any other expert utilizing individually administered evaluation procedures which provide for the use of valid tests and evaluation materials, administered and interpreted by trained personnel, in conformance with instructions provided by the producer of the tests or evaluation materials. The results of the evaluations submitted to the court shall be accompanied by the published validity and reliability data for the examination.

In order to satisfy the second element, a defendant must submit evidence regarding his adaptive functioning from the same time frame as the time at which the IQ test was administered that resulted in the score that satisfied the first element. *Jones*, 966 So. 2d at 325-28; *see also Phillips*, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S221. This Court has noted the planning necessary to show that CCP applies negates the concept that a defendant is mentally retarded. *Phillips*, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S221-22.

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ The Florida Administrative Code provisions have been renumbered.

Here, Defendant did not allege these elements in the lower When he first sought relief under Atkins v. Virginia, court. 536 U.S. 304 (2002), he asserted that Defendant had "substantial limitations of present functioning and/or significant subaverage general intellectual functioning." (PCR-SR. 339) The only "facts" alleged in support of this conclusory assertions were that Dr. Toomer had found that Defendant "had an IQ less than 60," that he did badly in school, that he dropped out in the 8th grade, that he "had difficulty communicating," that he "suffered a number of deficits," and that "his insight and judgment were impaired." (PCR-SR. 339-40) While Defendant did not mention that type of IQ test that Dr. Toomer used to find Defendant had an IQ score less than 60, a review of the testimony Defendant referenced shows that the IQ test was the Revised Beta. (T. 3133-35) The Revised Beta is not an approved test and Defendant did not provide the published validity and reliability data such that it was meet the requirements to be accepted. Further, Defendant did not include facts about his present adaptive functioning. Given these pleading failures, the lower court properly determined that the claim was insufficiently plead and denied it as such. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998).

Moreover, the lack of pleading is particular important, as

the record is replete with evidence that refutes the claim. In addition to the reliance on the Revised Beta that does not qualify to support a claim of retardation, Dr. Toomer also administered the WAIS-R, a qualified IQ test, to Defendant at the time of trial. (T. 3198) On this test, Defendant's full scale IQ was 83. Id. This IQ score well exceeds the cutoff score of 70 and refutes the notion that Defendant is retarded. Phillips, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S221; Jones, 966 So. 2d at 329; Cherry, 959 So. 2d at 714; Trotter, 932 So. 2d at 1049-50; Johnson, 960 So. 2d at 761; Zack, 911 So. 2d at 1201-02. Moreover, the trial court found, and this Court affirmed, the finding of CCP in this case based on Defendant's many months of planning in commission of this crime. Franqui, 699 So. 2d at 1323-24; (R. 1185-87) The trial court also noted that Defendant had engaged in planning regarding his two prior violent felony in rejecting the extreme convictions mental or emotional disturbance mitigator. (R. 1189-92) As this Court noted in Phillips, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S221-22, such planning shows that a defendant does not have deficits in adaptive function. Evidence was also presented that while Defendant may have not done well in school, he obtained employment, including holding as many as three jobs at once, and was considered a good worker at jobs where he showed initiative. (T. 2780-81, 2784, 2871,

2881, 2885-86, 3349-52) He was also capable of maintaining a marital relationship and caring for his children. (T. 2778-79, 2886-88) Again, this Court has noted that such evidence of the ability to engage in employment and life skills negates the assertion of deficits in adaptive functioning. *Phillips*, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S221-22; *Rodgers*, 948 So. 2d at 667-68. Under these circumstances, the claim was properly denied. *Owen v. State*, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S305, S306-07 (Fla. May 8, 2008). It should be affirmed.

Further, Defendant relied exclusively on the evidence presented by Dr. Toomer at the penalty phase in support of the allegations he did make in seeking relief under *Atkins*. (PCR-SR. 339-40) However, he ignored that the trial court rejected Dr. Toomer's testimony on credibility grounds:

The court has considered the results of Dr. Toomer's test as concerns the defendant's IQ. Since it is impossible for the court to verify the accuracy or validity of such a test, the court must consider it in light of the facts known to the court. In making this analysis the court is conscious of the fact that although an individual's performance on such a test may be unable to exceed his true abilities it may easily reflect less than his best efforts. The defense suggests that this court should accept, as a non-statutory mitigating factor the fact that, according to Dr. Toomer, [Defendant] is mentally retarded. Every piece of evidence presented in this trial, penalty phase and sentencing hearings, with the exception of Dr. Toomer's testimony, definitively establishes that [Defendant] is not mentally retarded. The crimes he has committed, as described above, reflect unshakable pattern of premeditation, an

calculation and shrewd planning that are totally inconsistent with mental retardation. [Defendant's] "good employment background" (one of the asserted nonstatutory mitigating circumstances) as established by witness Michael Barecchio shows that he was not only a good employee but that on many occasions he displayed initiative and a capacity to finish his assigned tasks others direction without and move to on or supervision. His ability to establish a meaningful relationship with a woman, to have and raise children with her and to support a family further suggest that he is not mentally retarded.

In order to find that this defendant is mentally retarded the court would have to accept Dr. Toomer's test result and ignore the clear and irrefutable logic of the facts in this case. The court is unwilling to do this and therefore rejects the existence of this non-statutory mitigating circumstance.

(R. 1195-96) This Court affirmed that finding on direct appeal:

As his next claim, [Defendant] argues that the trial court erred in failing to find the non-statutory mitigators of marginal or retarded intelligence and brain damage and the statutory mitigators of age and impaired capacity. See § 921.141(6)(f), (g), Fla. Stat. (1991).

A mitigating circumstance must be "reasonably established by the greater weight of the evidence." Nibert v. State, 574 So. 2d 1059, 1061 (Fla. 1990) (quoting Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1990)).

The trial court's sentencing order rejected low intelligence as a mitigator in the following fashion:

The court has considered the results of Toomer's test concerns Dr. as the Since it is impossible for defendant's IQ. the court to verify the accuracy or validity of such a test, the court must consider it in light of the facts known to the court. making analysis In this the court is conscious of the fact that although an individual's performance on such a test may be unable to exceed his true abilities it may easily reflect less than his best efforts.

The defense suggests that this court should accept, as a non-statutory mitigating factor the fact that, according to Dr. Toomer, [Defendant] is mentally retarded. Every piece of evidence presented in this trial, penalty phase and sentencing hearings, with the exception of Dr. Toomer's definitively establishes testimony, that [Defendant] is not mentally retarded. The crimes he has committed, as described above, unshakable reflect an pattern of premeditation, calculation and shrewd planning that are totally inconsistent with mental retardation. [Defendant's] boop" employment background" (one of the asserted non-statutory mitigating circumstances) as established by witness Michael Barecchio shows that he was not only a good employee but that on many occasions he displayed initiative and a capacity to finish his assigned tasks and move on to others without direction or supervision. His ability to establish a meaningful relationship with a woman, to have and raise children with her and to support a family further suggest that he is not mentally retarded.

In order to find that this defendant is mentally retarded the court would have to accept Dr. Toomer's test result and ignore the clear and irrefutable logic of the facts in this case. The court is unwilling to do this and therefore rejects the existence of this non-statutory mitigating circumstance.

In addition, the State's expert witness, Dr. Mutter, expressly rejected Dr. Toomer's findings and opined that [Defendant] was not mentally retarded. Dr. Mutter also found that Dr. Toomer's reliance on the Beta IQ test result was questionable, since it was inconsistent with both the Wechsler test result and with the mental status examination which he conducted.

As set out above, we find that there was competent, substantial evidence to support the trial court's

* * * *

conclusion that the non-statutory mitigators of low intelligence and organic brain damage were not established.

Franqui, 669 So. 2d at 1325-26.

This Court has previously recognized that when a defendant was raising a claim of retardation based on evidence that was previously presented and rejected, a trial court may properly summarily deny the claim. *Foster*, 929 So. 2d at 531-33; *Zack*, 911 So. 2d at 1201-02; *Bottoson v. State*, 833 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla. 2003). Under these circumstances, the claim was properly denied.

Defendant insists that the fact that his claim depended entirely on evidence that had already been rejected should be ignored because he did not have the opportunity to present any other evidence and the lower court erred in finding that he did. However, the record supports the finding that Defendant had the opportunity to show that there were new facts to support his claim.

When the lower court heard argument on the first version of his supplemental claim at the beginning of the evidentiary hearing, Defendant asserted that the lower court should consider the claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to present the issue of Defendant's intelligence properly. (PCT. 321) He did not assert that he had new

evidence or offer any explanation of why counsel could have been deemed ineffective. *Id.* When the lower court again heard argument on the issue more than a month later, Defendant again merely relied on Dr. Toomer's testimony and did not suggest that there was any additional evidence on the subject. (PCT. 585-88) Thus, Defendant was given two separate opportunities to proffer additional evidence.

Defendant was then given a third opportunity to present any claim of additional evidence in his supplement to the claim filed after the evidentiary hearing. (PCR. 723-24) Instead of proffering any evidence, Defendant merely noted that additional evidence might exist because counsel might have been ineffective or new tests might exist and he might have a degenerative Id. Not only was no evidence offered but the condition. assertions about "new tests" or a "degenerative condition" were nonsensical. The only "test" used to determine retardation is an intelligence test such as the WAIS or Stanford-Binet, which have clearly existed for years as Defendant took the WAIS pretrial. Moreover, one of the three elements of retardation is onset before the age of 18, such that Defendant could not have "become" retarded after his sentencing.

Additionally, in this pleading, Defendant claimed that he was being tested in the hope of developing relevant evidence.

(PCR. 724) As evidenced by the transcripts of hearings regarding the codefendant in the record from the two years between the filing of this supplement and the issuance of the lower court's orders, Defendant could have pursue any testing or presented any evidence he wanted to support his claim. (PCT. 600-50) Thus, Defendant had yet another opportunity to proffer any relevant evidence.

Finally, Defendant had the opportunity to comply with Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203(d)(4)(C), and file a motion pursuant to that rule until 60 days after October 1, 2004. Given all of these opportunities Defendant had to present his claim and proffer evidence in support of it below, the lower court was correct in faulting Defendant for not doing so. *Johnson v. Edwards*, 569 So. 2d 928 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(proper to dismiss with prejudice where repeated opportunities to amend had already been provided); *Hirlinger v. Stelzer*, 222 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969)(same); see also Diaz v. Bushong, 619 So. 2d 1020 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)(proper to dismiss complaint where party did not comply with the court order). His request to do so now, years after the time for doing so expired, should be rejected. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

II. THE DENIAL OF THE CLAIM CONCERNING COMMENTS IN CLOSING SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in summarily denying his claim that the State made improper comments during closing argument and that his counsel was alleged ineffective for failing to object to these comments. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim as it was procedurally barred and meritless.

In Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-99 (Fla. 1998), the defendant contended, as Defendant does here, that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to allegedly improper comments in closing both at the guilt and penalty Id. at 697 & n.17 & 18. In response to a phases of trial. claim that the lower court had improperly summarily denied the claims, this Court stated, "[a]s a matter of law, we find that [the] claims . . ., are procedurally barred because they could have been raised on direct appeal." This holding is in accordance with this Court's well established precedent, holding that a defendant cannot seek to overcome a procedural bar by couching the claim in the guise of ineffective assistance of See Miller v. State, 926 So. 2d 1243, 1256 (Fla. counsel. 2006); Rodriguez v. State, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1262 (Fla. 2005); Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190, 1210 (Fla. 2005); Pietri v. State, 885 So. 2d 245, 255-56 (Fla. 2004); Owen v. Crosby, 854

So. 2d 182, 190 n.10 (Fla. 2003); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 915 (Fla. 2000); Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 663 (Fla. 2000); Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000); Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-98 (Fla. 1998); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995); Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So. 2d 100, 106 (Fla. 1994); Bryan v. State, 641 So. 2d 61, 65 (Fla. 1994); Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d 1054, 1056-57 (Fla. 1993); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Woods v. State, 531 So. 2d 79, 83 (Fla. 1988). As such, this claim was properly summarily denied as procedurally barred.

While Defendant insists that this well established precedent should not apply because he allegedly could not have raised the claim on direct appeal, this is untrue. This Court has held that it will review issues regarding comments in closing even where the issue is unpreserved because the defendant did not object to the comments at the time of trial if the comments are sufficiency egregious to rise to the level of fundamental error. See Merck v. State, 975 So. 2d 1054, 1061 (Fla. 2007); Brooks v. State, 762 So. 2d 879, 899 (Fla. 2000). This Court has equated the harm needed to show fundamental error from comments in closing with the prejudice needed to prove a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to comments in closing. Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031,

1045 (Fla. 2003). Thus, if the comments were truly sufficiently egregious to present a cognizable claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, they could have been raised on direct appeal. Thus, Defendant's claim that an issue about the arguments could not have been raised on direct appeal should be rejected, and the finding of procedural bar was proper. The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

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